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QUESTIONS PRESENTED 
 
1. Whether a bank “insider” who acknowledged 

receiving tangible economic benefits from a 
$151,739.50 bank loan made to his business 
associate, committed bank fraud, within the 
meaning of Title 18 U.S.C. §§1344 and 2, in a 
case where: (a) the borrower (a cooperating 
government witness) never disclosed to the 
“insider” that the tangible economic benefits he 
received to satisfy a capital call obligation in a 
prior bona fide business relationship came from 
a loan made by the “insider’s” bank, and (b) the 
“insider” played no role in the bank’s lending 
decision, with respect to the $151,739.50 so-
called "nominee" loan charged in Count Ten of 
the Indictment? 
 

2. Whether a bank “insider” who acknowledged 
receiving tangible economic benefits from a  
$750,000 “nominee” bank loan made to his 
business associate, committed bank fraud, 
within the meaning of 18 U.S.C. §§1344 and 2, as 
a matter of law, in a case where: (a) 12 C.F.R. 
§215.3(f)(2) provided an express exception to 
Regulation O’s $100,000 cap1 on loans to the 
“insider,” who timely and properly invoked his 
right to the §215.3(f)(2) exception as an 

 
1 Regulation O, 12 C.F.R. §215.5 
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affirmative defense to the bank fraud charges in 
Counts Nine and Ten of the Indictment; (b) the 
borrower timely disclosed the “insider’s” 
financial interest in the $750,000 loan (charged 
in Count Nine of the Indictment) to the bank’s 
lending officer, who was also a bank director; (c) 
no language in §215.3(f)(2) imposed a duty upon 
the “insider” to disclose his receipt of tangible 
benefits from the loan; (d) the borrower remitted 
a portion of the loan proceeds to the “insider” as 
his capital contribution in a bona fide business 
transaction in which the borrower acquired 
property, goods, or services from the “insider” 
prior to the loan transaction; (e)  the bank’s 
lending decision was based solely on the 
creditworthiness of the borrower; (f) the “insider” 
did not guarantee the loans; (g) the borrower 
bore the sole responsibility for repayment of the 
loans, with his assets (including his house) 
pledged as collateral; (h) the bank viewed the 
$750,000 loan as “good,” the bank profited from 
the loans, and the loans did not jeopardize in any 
way the security and safety of the bank; and (i) 
there was no evidence that the “insider”  
provided any false information concerning the 
loans, or asked the borrower to provide false 
information to the bank, or participated in any 
discussion with bank loan officers and directors 
regarding their decision to make the loans, or 
voted to approve or ratify the loans?   
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3. Whether the Court of Appeals erred, as a matter 
of law, in sustaining a conviction for wire fraud 
conspiracy under 18 U.S.C. §1349 (in Count One 
of the Indictment) and convictions for wire fraud 
under 18 U.S.C. §§1343 and 2 (in Counts Two 
through Eight) in a case where: (a) the rights and 
obligations between the Petitioner and the 
investor/“victims” were codified in written 
contracts that incorporated longstanding 
corporate governance documents, pre-existing 
operating agreements, and a related-offering 
memorandum; (b) the “victims” were “accredited 
investors” who were represented in their 
investment transactions by financial advisors 
and/or lawyers of their choice; (c) the “victims” 
agreed in writing to honor all of the terms and 
conditions set forth in the applicable corporate 
governance documents, which were promulgated 
and adopted by Petitioner’s corporate 
predecessors; (d) every category of expenditures 
cited by the government as “fraudulent” or 
“personal” was expressly authorized in the 
governing operating agreements to which the 
“victims” agreed to be bound; (e) the “risk factors” 
related to these investments were disclosed to 
the “victims” and acknowledged in their 
purchase agreements; (f) the businesses in which 
the “victims” invested were ongoing business 
enterprises at the time of their investment and 
the Indictment; (g) forward-looking statements 
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in the transactional documents and follow-on 
stakeholder reports were qualified by words like 
“expect,” “may,” and “believe;” (h) there was no 
evidence that Petitioner precluded, limited, or 
hindered the “victims” from conducting due 
diligence prior to or after their investments; and 
(i) there was no allegation or evidence that 
Petitioner engaged in a “Ponzi” scheme, or 
fraudulent financial accounting practices, or that 
he failed to grow the businesses in question?  

 
 

LIST OF PARTIES 
 

The parties in the District Court and Court of 
Appeals are: 
 

1. Donald V. Watkins, Sr. (“Watkins, Sr.”) 
Petitioner and Defendant-Appellant below. 

2. Donald V. Watkins, Jr. (“Watkins, Jr.,”) 
Petitioner and Defendant-Appellant below. 

3. The United States of America, Respondent and 
Plaintiff below. 

 
 

CORPORATE DISCLOSURE STATEMENT 
 

Watkins, Sr., hereby certifies that there is no 
parent or publicly held company owning 10 percent or 
more of the corporation’s stock for the corporate 
entities in this case.  
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PROCEEDINGS IN THE COURTS BELOW 
 
Watkins, Sr., and co-defendant Watkins, Jr., were 

charged with one count of conspiracy to commit wire 
fraud and bank fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §1349 
(Count One), seven counts of wire fraud, in violation 
of 18 U.S.C. §§1343 and 2 (Counts Two through 
Eight), and two counts of bank fraud, in violation of 18 
U.S.C. §§1344 and 2 (Counts Nine and Ten).  (Doc. 4).2   

Watkins, Sr., and Watkins, Jr., pleaded “Not 
Guilty” to the charges. (Doc. 223, 219) 

The jury returned a verdict of guilty on all counts, 
as to Watkins, Sr.  (Id.).  Watkins, Jr., was found 
guilty of Counts One and Two, only. (Id.). 

Watkins, Sr., raised the issue that he lacked the 
requisite intent to commit the conspiracy and wire 
and bank fraud crimes for which he was charged in 
his motions for acquittal at the close of the 
Government’s evidence (Doc. 144) and at the close of 
all evidence (Doc. 151).  These motions were denied 
by the District Court.  (Doc. 153 and 155, 
respectively).   

Watkins, Sr. raised this defense again in his 
motion for Judgment of Acquittal after the jury 
verdict, or alternatively for a New Trial (Doc. 164).  
Again, it was denied by the District Court.  (Doc. 

 
2 The 11th Court of Appeals erroneously found that Watkins, Sr. 
and Watkins, Jr., were convicted of violations of 18 U.S.C. 
§1342.  Neither the Indictment (Doc. 4), nor the Judgments of 
Conviction (Doc. 223, 219), support this erroneous finding. 
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198).   
With respect to the two “nominee” loans in Counts 

Nine and Ten, Watkins, Sr., presented 1st and 2nd 
Circuit cases in his requested jury instruction Nos. 
23 holding that such a loan is not, in itself, illegal.3 
(Doc. 147, at 3-4).  The Government, citing 3rd, 8th, 
9th, and 10th Circuit cases, requested the imposition 
of strict liability on Watkins, Sr., for these loans. 
(Doc. 142,, at 28-29 and nn. 5-7).  The trial judge gave 
the jury instruction requested by the Government. 
(Doc. 183, at 23-24). 

Prior to Watkins’ case, there was no 11th Circuit 
case with his analagous facts that addressed the 
legal arguments advanced by Watkins, Sr., on this 
point. 

The issue of Watkins, Sr.’s lack of intent to defraud 
with respect to the wire and bank fraud charges was 
also raised on appeal in Watkins, Sr.’s Opening 
Appellate and  Reply Briefs.4  The Court of Appeals 

 
3 As discussed in the Reasons for Granting the Petition section 
of this Petition, these cases hold that a nominee loan is illegal if 
it is made with the intent to defraud the lender, as where the 
loan is made with little likelihood or expectation that the 
named borrower would repay it.  On the other hand, where the 
named borrower is both financially able to repay the loan and 
fully understands he or she is responsible for repaying the loan, 
and the lender looks to the named borrower for repayment, 
there is no intent to defraud the lender, even though the named 
borrower turned over the loan proceeds to a third party.  . 
4 In his Appellate Briefs, Watkins, Sr. argued that, based upon 
the unique facts and circumstance in his case, there was no 
evidence of an intent to: (a) defraud Alamerica Bank, or obtain 
bank money by fraudulent means or false pretenses, or (b) an 
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ruled against Watkins on all counts and on all issues 
raised in his appeal.  

Watkins, Sr., was sentenced to 60 months in 
prison.5 Watkins, Jr., was sentenced to 27 months.6 

Watkins, Sr., and Watkins, Jr., timely appealed 
their convictions to the Court of Appeals in United 
States v. Donald V. Watkins, Jr., and Donald V. 
Watkins, Sr., Case No. 19-12951.   

On July 15, 2022, the Court of Appeals sustained 
Watkins, Sr.’s convictions on all counts in United 
States v. Watkins, 42 F.4th 1278 (11th Cir. 2022).  It 
affirmed Watkins, Jr.’s convictions on Counts One and 
Two. 

Watkins, Sr., and Watkins, Jr., timely filed a 
Petition for Rehearing En Banc.  On December 8, 
2022, their respective Petitions were denied.  

 

 

 
intent to defraud under the wire fraud statute, or (c) engage in 
a conspiracy to commit bank or wire fraud.  Without the 
requisite statutory intent to defraud, there was no wire or bank 
fraud and no conspiracy to commit wire and bank fraud, as a 
matter of law.  The Court of Appeals cited and misapplied 
United States v. Takhalov, 827 F.3d 1307 (11th Cir. 2016) in 
support of its rejection of these arguments. There is no 
precedent in this Court that mirrors Takhalov. 
5 On August 25, 2022, the Federal Bureau of Prisons 
transferred Watkins, Sr., to home confinement.  On January 10, 
2023, the Bureau of Prisons discharged Watkins, Sr., from its 
custody.  
6 Watkins, Jr., was discharged from Bureau of Prisons’ custody 
on August 16, 2021. 
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PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI 
_________________ 

 
Watkins, Sr., petitions this Court for a Writ of 

Certiorari to review the Order of the Court of Appeals 
in United States v. Watkins, 42 F.4th 1278 (11th Cir. 
2022) affirming his conviction on one count of 
conspiracy to commit wire fraud, in violation of 18 
U.S.C. §1349, seven counts of wire fraud, in violation 
of 18 U.S.C. §§1343 and 2, and two counts of bank 
fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§1344 and 2.   

This Petition presents three important questions 
of first impression in this Court.  Additionally, the 
Petition presents a conflict between the 1st and 2nd 
Circuit Courts of Appeal and 11th Circuit on the issue 
of whether strict liability can be imposed on what the 
Government characterizes as “nominee” bank loans 
in Counts Nine and Ten of the Indictment. 

 
OPINIONS BELOW 

 
The Court of Appeals Opinions are set forth in the 

Appendix. Appendix A is the Court of Appeals July 
15, 2022 Opinion in United States v. Watkins, 42 
F.4th 1278 (11th Cir. 2022) affirming Watkins, Sr.’s 
and Watkins, Jr.’s respective convictions. Appendix 
B is the Court of Appeals December 8, 2022 Order 
denying Watkins, Sr.’s and Watkins, Jr.’s respective 
Petitions for Rehearing En Banc. 
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STATEMENT ON JURISDICTION 
 
This Court’s jurisdiction to review Watkins, Sr.’s 

Petition for a Writ of Certiorari in this case rests on 
28 U.S.C. §1254(1), and 28 U.S.C. §2101(c).   

The date of the Orders sought to be reviewed are 
dated July 15, 2022, for the published Court of 
Appeals Panel Opinion, and December 8, 2022, for 
the Court of Appeals’ denial of Watkins, Sr.’s Petition 
for Rehearing En Banc. 

 
STATUTES INVOLVED 

 
The statutes involved in Watkins, Sr.’s case are: 

18 U.S.C. §2, 18 U.S.C. §1343, 18 U.S.C. §1344, and 
18 U.S.C. §1349.  They are presented in Appendix C. 

 
STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 
As discussed more fully below, the Government’s 

prosecution team in Watkins, Sr.’s case devised a 
novel theory for creating criminal liability in a wire 
fraud conspiracy case that is not supported in any 
existing U.S. Supreme Court case authority. 

With respect to the bank fraud charges in Counts 
Nine and Ten, the Government successfully 
persuaded the trial judge and 11th Circuit Court of 
Appeals to impose strict liability on Watkins, Sr., for 
what the prosecution characterized as two “nominee” 
bank loans.  In doing so, these courts totally 
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disregarded Watkins, Sr.’s right under 12 C.F.R. 
§215.3(f)(2) to receive the tangible economic benefits 
from each loan, which he invoked as an affirmative 
defense throughout the case.  Additionally, the Court 
of Appeals affirmance of the bank fraud charges 
conflicts with decisions of the 1st and 2nd Circuit 
Courts of Appeal on this issue. 

What is worse, the Government effectively used a 
criminal prosecution to interpret and nullify a bank 
“insider’s” right to receive tangible economic benefits 
under 12 C.F.R. §215.3(f)(2). 

This conspiracy, wire fraud, and bank fraud case 
arises from a fully documented business relationship 
between Watkins, Sr., and several “accredited 
investors” who purchased economic participation 
interests in Watkins, Sr.’s waste-to-energy business 
(i.e., “Watkins-Pencor, LLC”), which said business 
enjoyed Class A membership status in various 
affiliates under the Masada Resource Group, LLC 
(“Masada”), family of businesses.  (See, DX 5). 

The economic participation purchase agreements 
in Watkins-Pencor, all of which were government 
exhibits, are short, clear, and concise.  (See, GX 7, 15, 
55, 78, 142, 156, 169, and 205). 

The economic participations at issue in this case 
were sold between January 2007 and September 
2010. (Doc. 254, at 2496-97). 

Under the plain language of the purchase 
agreements, all of the economic participations were 
subject to the express terms and conditions set forth 
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in the applicable Masada-related Operating 
Agreements (DX 3 and 5) that were written and 
adopted by Masada principals prior to Watkins, Sr. 
becoming a Class A member of these Masada 
affiliates and becoming their designated “Manager.”   

The known “risk factors” were disclosed to each 
purchaser in his/her/its purchase agreement by an 
express reference to a March 1996 Confidential 
Offering Memorandum (DX 1) that was incorporated 
into the purchase agreements.   

The purchasers were represented in their 
purchase transactions by Wall Street financial 
advisors and transactional attorneys.  A Wall Street 
financial advisor executed the purchase agreement 
for “victim” Charles Barkley.   

The Government offered no evidence at trial, that 
Watkins, Sr., or Watkins, Jr., operated the 
businesses at issue as a “Ponzi scheme.”  In fact, all 
of the businesses referenced in the indictment were 
ongoing business concerns before, during, and after 
Watkins, Sr.’s indictment, trial, and conviction. 
     The “nominee” loans in Counts Nine and Ten were 
made by a particular Watkins-Pencor economic 
participant who held a 10% “controlling interest” in 
the Watkins Pencor business enterprise.  The loan 
applicant was a qualified and capable borrower who 
used his own credit and collateral to secure the loans. 
The proceeds of the loan were used as the source of 
money to fullfil his capital call obligations to Watkins 
Pencor.  As discussed in detail below, Watkins, Sr., 
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played no role in the Bank’s loan decision-making 
process with respect to either loan.  In fact, the 
borrower never disclosed to Watkins, Sr., the source 
of the $151,739.50 “nominee” bank loan referenced in 
Count Ten.  Yet, Watkins, Sr., was convicted on 
Count Ten on a strict liability theory. 

There was no evidence presented by the 
Government at trial that the financial books and 
records of the Watkins businesses were duplicitious 
or fraudulent in any respect.  There was no evidence 
presented by the Government at trial that Watkins, 
Sr., failed to declare all of the income from the sale of 
his economic participations on his personal tax 
returns, or that he failed to pay taxes on this income. 

Watkins, Sr., asked to testify before the grand 
jury that indicted him on two occasions, which said 
requests were granted.  (Doc. 254 at 2487).   

Watkins, Sr.’s indictment in Birmingham, 
Alabama came 33 months after the U.S. Attorney for 
the District of New Jersey reviewed the same 
investor transactions that formed the basis of 
Watkins, Sr.’s conspiracy and wire fraud charges in 
Birmingham, Alabama, and cleared Watkins, Sr. of 
all allegations of conspiracy and wire fraud. 

Watkins, Sr., also testified in his own defense at 
trial in Birmingham. (Doc. 254 at 2435 through 255 
at 2767). 

Watkins, Sr., seeks this court’s review of the 11th 
Circuit Court of Appeals affirmance of his 
convictions, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1254(1). 
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REASONS FOR GRANTING THE PETITION 
 
A. As a matter of law, Watkins, Sr., did not 

commit bank fraud, within the meaning of 
18 U.S.C. §§1344 and 2, with respect to the 
$151,739.50 “nominee” bank loan 
referenced in Count Ten of the Indictment 
and the $750,000 “nominee” bank loan 
referenced in Count Nine of the Indictment. 

 
While the Court of Appeals’ Opinion discussed 

Regulation O’s $100,000 cap on loans to a bank 
“insider” like Watkins, Sr., the Appeals Court wholly 
failed to address the exception to this cap, as codified 
in 12 C.F.R. §215.3(f)(2).   

Watkins, Sr., repeatedly asserted §215.3(f)(2) as 
an affirmative defense to the bank fraud charges.  
Watkins, Sr., raised the issue that he lacked the 
requisite intent to commit the conspiracy and wire 
and bank fraud crimes for which he was charged in 
his motions for acquittal at the close of the 
Government’s evidence (Doc. 144) and at the close of 
all evidence (Doc. 151).  These motions were denied 
by the District Court.  (Doc. 153 and 155, 
respectively).   
     Watkins, Sr. raised this defense again in his 
motion for Judgment of Acquittal after the jury 
verdict, or alternatively for a New Trial (Doc. 164).  
Again, it was denied by the District Court.  (Doc. 198).   
     The issue of whether Watkins, Sr., had an intent to 
defraud with respect to the two “nominee” loans in 
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Counts Nine and Ten, was also presented in Watkins, 
Sr.’s requested jury instruction No. 23, which cited 
United States v. Gens, 493 F.2d 216, 221-23 (1st Cir. 
1974), and United States v. Docherty, 468 F.2d 989, 
994-95 (2nd Cir. 1972) in support of the proposition 
that “nominee” loans are not, in and of themselves, 
illegal.7  (Doc. 147, at 3-4).  There was no 11th Circuit 
case based upon analogous facts on this issue. 
    Citing United States v. Goldblatt, 813 F.2d 619, 624 
(3d Cir. 1987), United States v. Willis, 997 F.2d 407, 
410 n.2 (8th Cir. 1993), United States v. Waldroop, 431 
F.3d 736, 741 (10th Cir. 2005), United States v. 
Jimenez, 513 F.3d 62, 73 (3d Cir. 2008), and United 
States v. Molinaro, 11 F.3d 853, 857 (9th Cir. 1993), 
the Government argued for the imposition of strict 
liability on Watkins, Sr., for the two “nominee” loans. 
(Doc. 142,, at 28-29 and nn. 5-7).  The trial judge gave 
the jury instruction requested by the Government. 
(Doc. 183-1, at 23-24). 8  

 
7 These cases hold that a nominee loan is illegal if made with 
the intent to defraud the lender, as where the loan is made with 
little likelihood or expectation that the named borrower would 
repay.  On the other hand, where the named borrower is both 
financially able to repay the loan and fully understands he or 
she is responsible for repaying the loan, and the lender looks to 
the named borrower for repayment, there is no intent to 
defraud the lender, even though the named borrower turned 
over the loan proceeds to a third party. 
8 The points and authorities cited in Watkins’ Request Jury 
Instruction No. 23 regarding Watkins, Sr.’s lack of an intent to defraud 
the bank, as a matter of law, were also presented in his motions for 
acquittal. (Docs. 144, 151, and 164). 
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    The 11th Circuit affirmed the imposition of strict 
liability on Watkins, Sr., for these bank loans, despite 
§215.3(f)(2) and contrary to the precedent established 
in United States v. Gens and United States v. Docherty. 

The issue of Watkins, Sr.’s lack of intent to defraud 
with respect to the wire and bank fraud charges was 
also raised on appeal in Watkins, Sr.’s Opening 
Appellate and  Reply Briefs.9  The Court of Appeals 
ruled against Watkins on all counts and on all issues 
raised in his appeal. 

In effect, the Court of Appeals judicially nullified 
this codified exception in Watkins, Sr.’s case, without 
citing any explanation or precedent for doing so.  The 
Court upheld Watkins, Sr.’s bank fraud conviction 
based upon that Watkins’ non-disclosure of his 
“nominee” status constituted all the proof it needed for 
the “intent to defraud” element of the crime.10 

 
9 In his Appellate Briefs, Watkins, Sr. argued that, based upon 
the unique facts and circumstance in his case, there was no 
evidence of an intent to: (a) defraud Alamerica Bank, or obtain 
bank money by fraudulent means or false pretenses, or (b)  
defraud under the wire fraud statute, or (c) engage in a 
conspiracy to commit bank or wire fraud.  Without the requisite 
statutory intent to defraud, there was no wire or bank fraud 
offense in this case and no conspiracy to commit wire and bank 
fraud, as a matter of law, as held in United States v. Takhalov, 
827 F.3d 1307 (11th Cir. 2016).  The Court of Appeals cited and 
misapplied Takhalov in support of its rejection of Watkins’ 
arguments. There is no precedent in this Court that mirrors the 
holding in Takhalov. 
10 The 11th Court of Appeals did not address how and why 
Watkins, Sr., was required to disclose his receipt of tangible 
economic benefits from the $151,739.50 bank loan when the 
borrower never disclosed to Watkins the source of this capital 
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Watkins, Sr. testified as to his good faith reliance 
on 12 C.F.R. §215.3(f)(2) with respect to the two bank 
loans charged in Counts Nine and Ten of the 
Indictment.   Based upon plain language of 
§215.3(f)(2) and the unique facts and circumstances in 
this case, the Alamerica Bank loans that formed the 
basis of the bank fraud charges were NOT extensions 
of credit to Watkins, Sr.,  and they did not cause him 
to exceed the maximum amount of credit that can be 
extended to a bank “insider.”   

 
Specific Facts Relevant to the Two Bank Fraud 

Charges 
 

Counts Nine and Ten alleging bank fraud, relate to 
two loans of $750,000 and $151,739.5011  that Richard 
Arrington, Jr., a cooperating government witness, 
obtained from Alamerica Bank on September 21, 2012 
(Doc. 180-113 (GX 171)) and November 20, 2012 (180-
119 (GX 178)).  

Arrington testified that he never disclosed to 
Watkins, Sr., the fact that Alamerica Bank was the 
source of his $151,739.50 loan. (See, Doc. 248, at 161, 
lines 11-21).  Likewise, Arrington never told Watkins 
that Alamerica Bank was the source of Arrington’s 
two prior, smaller loans (Id.,  at 189 and 263).   

 
contribution payment. 
11 Throughout the trial transacript, the $151,739.50 Alamerica 
bank loan was referred by the parties to as the “$150,000” loan. 
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Furthermore, Watkins, Sr., never interacted with 
bank officials in connection with any Arrington loan. 
(Id. at 204).    

Yet, Watkins was found guilty of bank fraud for 
Arrington’s $151,739.50 Alamerica Bank loan. 

Regulation O, 12 C.F.R. Part 25, generally imposes 
a $100,000 maximum on the amount of credit a bank 
can extend to an “insider.” (Doc. 248, at 238; Doc. 180-
138 (GX 201, at 7-8).  Watkins, Sr., was an “insider” 
at Alamerica Bank for purposes of Regulation O (Doc. 
180-130 (GX 192, at 1); Doc 180-131 (GX 193, at 1) and 
had reached his Regulation O credit limit at the bank.   

Arrington held a 10 percent economic interest in 
one of Watkins’ Masada-related affiliates (i.e., 
Watkins-Pencor), which is deemed a “controlling 
interest.” (GX 169). This level of economic 
participation subjected Arrington to capital call 
obligations under the Masada-related operating  
agreements.12  (DX 3 and 5).  Arrington confirmed that 
Watkins, Sr. informed him that he (Arrington) needed 
to pay this $750,000 obligation and that it would be 
used in connection with their Watkins-Pencor 
business relationship.  (Doc. 248, at 190).   

In both instances, Watkins, Sr., asked Arrington to 
obtain loans in those amounts as capital call 

 
12 The Government recognized this obligation. (See, Doc. 248, at 
185, lines 15-25, and Doc. 255, at 2786, lines 18-22, and at 2788, 
lines 8-24; See. Also, Doc. 255, at 2619, lines 20-24, and at 2020, 
lines 17-20). 
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contributions because Arrington had gotten a free ride 
for so long.  (Doc. 254, at 177).13   

Watkins, Sr., did not direct Arrington, who had at 
least two other banking relationships, to go to 
Alamerica Bank for the loans, although Arrington told 
Watkins, Sr., in seeking the larger loan that he was 
going to Alamerica.  (Doc. 248, at 189-90; Doc. 254, at 
178-79, 183-84). 

Watkins, Sr., knew he would receive economic 
benefits from the loans because Arrington was 
fulfilling his capital call obligations, and Watkins, Sr., 
has never denied that he received such benefits.  (Doc. 
254, at 185-86).   

Under the plain language of 12 C.F.R. §215.3(f)(2), 
an “insider’s” receipt of tangible economic benefits 
from the loan proceeds is NOT considered a loan to the 
“insider” if the loan involves a bona fide transaction 
for acquiring property, goods, or services from the 
insider.  (Doc. 249, at 62-63; Doc. 254, at 179).  
Watkins, Sr. understood that this exception applied to 
the Arrington $750,000 loan.14   

Watkins, Sr., has consistently invoked his rights 
under this exception as a defense to the bank fraud 
charges and related inquiries from bank regulators.  
(Doc. 254, at 183, 186).  Larry Tate, Alamerica Bank’s 

 
13 The Johnson and Harms families made their Masada-related 
capital contribution in the form of loans, as well. (Doc. 254, at 
177-78). 
14 This exception also applied to the $151,739.50 Alamerica 
Bank loan, as well. 
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CEO, shared the same understanding of 12 C.F.R. 
§215.3(f)(2).  (Doc. 249, at 62-63). 

Although Watkins, Sr., received benefits from the 
Arrington loans, he did not disclose this fact to the 
bank because there is no disclosure requirement in 12 
C.F.R. §215.3(f)(2).  (Doc. 254, at 183; see, Doc. 249, at 
63-64).   

Arrington testified he told Alamerica Bank loan 
officer Matt Rockett that he was in a business 
relationship with Watkins, Sr., and needed the 
$750,000 loan.  He disclosed this fact to Larry Tate, as 
well.  (Doc. 248, at 191-92).   

Tate confirmed that Watkins, Sr., had disclosed his 
Masada and Watkins Pencor business interests to the 
bank on annual regulatory filings.  (Doc. 249, at 35-
36).   

Even though the bank board, as a whole, did not 
receive information about Watkins’ expected economic 
benefit when it voted on the loans, Tate and Rockett 
did.  Furthermore, Tate testified that any loan officer 
who received this information had a duty to report it 
to the board.  (Doc. 249, at 64).   

Tate and Rockett were bank board members when 
the only Arrington loan that required board approval 
(i.e., the $750,000 loan) was presented to the bank 
board by Rocket and approved.  (Doc. 248, at 236-37). 

Watkins did not direct the bank loan officer to 
make any of the three of the Alamerica bank loans to 
Arrington that required no board approval.  (Doc. 248, 
at 263).  What is more, Watkins was not present at the 
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board meeting where Arrington’s $750,000 loan was 
presented, discussed, and approved. (Id., at 264). 

In processing the $750,000 loan, bank loan officer 
Rockett asked for a source of repayment letter 
confirming Arrington’s right to receive $750,000 from 
a purchase by Charles Barkley of an economic interest 
in Watkins’ portion of Nabirm (a non-Masada related 
oil and gas exploration business).  That September 18, 
2012 letter, drafted by Watkins, Sr., and signed by his 
new general counsel (Kimberly Perkins), confirmed 
the right of JennRo (Arrington’s business entity) to 
receive this $750,000 by December 31, 2012.  (Doc. 
180-133 (GX 196))   

According to Rockett, he showed the letter to bank 
president Tate, who directed Rockett to remove it from 
the loan file.  (Doc. 248, at 243, 257-59).  As such, the 
source of repayment letter was not in the loan file 
reviewed by the bank board in approving the 
application for the $750,000 September 21, 2012 loan.  
(See, Doc. 248, at 235; Doc. 249, at 30-32, 131-37). 

In any event, the bank made each of its four loans 
to Arrington based on his creditworthiness.  (Doc. 249, 
at 64).  Watkins was not a guarantor of the loans.  (Id. 
at 32).  Arrington was solely responsible for 
repayment of the loans, with his assets (including his 
house) as collateral (Id. at 38).  When Arrington told 
Rockett that he (Arrington) had this business 
relationship with Watkins, Sr., and needed the 
$750,000 loan, Rockett made sure Arrington 



 

14  

understood it was Arrington and not Watkins on the 
loan.  (Doc. 248, at 192).   

Tate testified that the bank wanted to make the 
$750,000 loan to Arrington.  The loan was a “good 
loan;” the bank made money from the loan; and in 
Tate’s opinion, it did “not jeopardize in any way the 
security and safety of the bank.”  (Doc. 249, at 41). 

The seminal 11th Circuit Court of Appeals case on 
bank fraud at the time of Watkins, Sr.’s appeal was 
United States v. De La Mata, 266 F.3d 1275 (11th Cir. 
2001), which was a case of first impression in the 11th 
Circuit.  The De La Mata court upheld a bank fraud 
conviction only because the bank “insiders” engaged 
in a pattern of deception by repeatedly and willfully 
concealing the insiders' personal financial interest in 
various entities in order to induce the bank to enter 
into transactions remunerative to the “insiders.”  The 
“insiders” also voted as bank directors on the 
transactions in question without disclosing their 
financial interests in them.   

While De La Mata discussed certain aspects of 
Regulation O, it did not address the 12 C.F.R. 
§215.3(f)(2) affirmative defense raised by Watkins, 
Sr., in this case.   

None of the factors that evidenced an intent to 
defraud the bank in De La Mata is present in Watkins, 
Sr.’s case.   This is particularly true with respect to the 
$151,739.50  bank loan because Arrington never told 
Watkins the funding source of this loan, and Watkins 
played no role in the lending decision.   
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Notwithstanding diligent searches, Petitioner has 
not found and does not know of any federal wire fraud 
appellate decisions, and specifically any such 
decisions of this Court, involving similar or even 
analogous facts to those here.  Watkins, Sr.’s case of 
bank fraud was one of first impression in the Court of 
Appeals and is one of first impression in this Court.       

Watkins, Sr.’s case also presents a conflict between 
the Circuit Courts of Appeals on an “insider’s” 
criminal culpability for “nominee” bank loans. 
 

B. As a matter of law, Watkins, Sr, did not 
commit wire fraud conspiracy under 18 
U.S.C. §1349 (as referenced in Count 
One of the Indictment) or wire fraud 
under 18 U.S.C. §§1343 and 2 (as 
referenced in Counts Two through 
Eight of the Indictment). 
 

Watkins asserts that the Government’s theories of 
(a) “fraud in the inducement” of Watkins-Pencor 
purchase agreements and (b) “lulling” the  alleged 
“victims” are foreclosed in this case, as a matter of law.   

The Court of Appeals erroneously found that 
Watkins, Sr., secured the Watkins-Pencor 
investments through several different fraudulent 
misrepresentations, such as: (1) misleading the 
investors into believing Watkins, Sr., owned at least 
50% of the interest in Masada, when in fact he was 
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only the manager15; (2) misleading investors into 
believing the solicited funds would be used for 
business purposes, when in fact they were used to pay 
personal expenses and debts16; and (3) misleading 
investors into believing high-profile individuals such 
as Condoleeza Rice and Martin Luther King III were 
heavily involved in the management of Masada, when 
in fact they were not.17 

Watkins, Sr., asserted as a defense to the wire 
fraud charges that he acted in good faith and in 
accordance with the authority vested in him under the 
plain language of the applicable corporate governance 
documents, operating agreements, and offering 
memorandum that governed the conduct between 
Watkins and the victims during their business 
relationship.  Watkins placed the pertinent offering 
memorandum and applicable operating agreements 
into evidence. (See, DX 1, 3, and 5).  These documents 

 
15 The Watkins-Pencor agreements clearly define the legal 
interests conveyed to each purchaser.  Each one invested in 
Watkins-Pencor, not Masada. These agreements speak for 
themselves and contradict this Court of Appeals finding. 
16 The Court of Appeals characterized loan repayments to 
Watkins, his family members, and an ex-girlfriend as payment 
for personal expenses, even though the applicable Masada-
related Operating Agreements (DX 3 and 5) permitted these 
“insiders” to make loans to the Watkins-Pencor and Masada-
related businesses and authorized Watkins to repay these 
creditors from available funds. 
17 One of the “risk factors” identified in the Offering 
Memoradum (DX 1) was the disclosed fact that management’s 
efforts to recruit high-profile individuals as employees or 
consultants might not be successful. 
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were incorporated by reference into each alleged 
victims’ Watkins-Pencor economic participation 
purchase agreement.  

The Government argued that Watkins, Sr., cannot 
contract his way out of wire fraud.  This assertion 
seeks to override the documented business 
relationship between Watkins, Sr., and his business 
partners.  The existence of those corporate 
agreements and the incorporation of those 
agreements in the transactional documents (the 
respective economic participation agreements) means 
that a reasonable person in these investors’ shoes 
would expect to be bound by those incorporated 
agreements.  And, it’s a plausible assumption that a 
reasonable person would consider the contents of 
those incorporated agreements as having some 
importance in determining whether to enter into and 
finalize the purchase transaction.  

Both of those premises – i.e., expecting to be bound 
by those incorporated agreements (because the 
agreement each one signs so provides), and attaching 
some importance to the contents of those agreements 
– are relevant to the materiality or lack of materiality 
of the alleged misrepresentations, which is an 
essential element of the wire fraud charges and for the 
jury to decide.  Neder v. United States, 527 U.S. 1, 20, 
25. 

As such, Watkins, Sr., was not, in any way, trying 
to “contract out of fraud.”  In none of the business 
agreements that Watkins, Sr., placed in evidence is 
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there a provision waiving their liability, negating 
representations, or disclaiming representations other 
than those in the written agreement. But, the 
incorporated agreements do include matters that a 
reasonable person could well – and ought to—deem 
relevant to a decision whether to enter into the initial 
economic participation relationship, or a later 
economic interest or loan arising out of and adding on 
to the original participation interest. 
     Although conveniently ignored and downplayed by 
the Government, the specifically alleged wire fraud 
transactions and every transaction otherwise alleged 
to be part of the scheme to defraud are not like “point 
of sale” transactions such as a store purchase of a good 
at a marked price.  Instead, every challenged 
transaction is part of an ongoing business relationship 
in which Watkins, Sr., as the global manager of 
Masada and Watkins-Pencor, had consistently 
worked to develop new markets, in many countries, 
often over a period of more than ten years, subject to 
the forces of various market conditions (e.g., the Great 
Recession of 2008, an Ebola epidemic in Sierra Leona, 
war in Ukraine, domestic political unrest in Egypt, 
global and regional prices of competing energy 
sources) that were beyond Watkins, Sr.’s control and 
which required frequent adaptation and modification 
of business plans and strategies. 

In affirming his conviction, the Court of Appeals 
failed to cite a single financial transaction undertaken 
by Watkins, Sr., that was not expressly authorized 
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between Watkins, Sr. and the alleged “victims” in the 
transactional agreements.  Likewise, the Court of 
Appeals failed to cite a single example of a alleged 
“misrepresentation” that fell outside of the disclosed 
“risk factors” that were identified in the 1996 Masada-
related offering memo. (DX 1). 

Notwithstanding diligent searches, Petitioner has 
not found and does not know of any federal wire fraud 
appellate decisions, and specifically any such 
decisions of this Court, involving similar or even 
analogous facts to those here.  Watkins, Sr.’s 
conspiracy and wire fraud case was truly one of first 
impression in the 11th Circuit and is an important one 
of first impression in this Court. 
 

Specific Facts Relevant to the Wire Fraud 
Conspiracy and Charges 

 
All of the financial transactions alleged in the 

Indictment occurred within the context of the 
Watkins-Pencor business relationships between 
Watkins, Sr., and the “victims.”18  In plain language, 
the purchase agreements placed in evidence by the 
Government stated that each of the “victims” 
purchased an economic participation in Watkins’ 
equity share of the Masada family of companies only, 
and not Masada itself.  The agreements also stated 

 
18Footnote number 1 in the Court of Appeals opinion identifies 
what it considered as the Masada family of companies, for the 
purposes of this appeal. 
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that Watkins may be entitled to receive an economic 
benefit from Masada Resource Group, as well as from 
its parent company, Controlled Environmental 
Systems Corporation.19 

The purchase agreements incorporated an express 
reference to “risk factors” in a 1996 offering memo that 
was made available to each “victim” prior to executing 
his/her purchase transaction.   (DX 1, at 4-11). 

The identified risk factors applicable to the fraud 
charges in Watkins, Sr.’s case are:  No. 5, “Conflicts of 
Interest,” including the Manager’s authority to 
conduct various “insider” transactions20, as referenced 
in the applicable operating agreements (DX 3 and 5); 
No. 7, “No Assurance of Cash Distributions”; No. 13, 
“Additional Capital Contributions” (for  certain 
stakeholders), which may be in the form of loans;  No. 
15, “Financial Projections;” No 16(c), “Abandonment of 
Target Markets,” when deemed necessary by 

 
19 During the conspiracy period alleged in the Indictment, 
Watkins executed bona fide purchase agreements with the 
equity owners of Masada Resource Group, LLC, and Controlled 
Environmental Systems Corporation to purchase all of their 
equity interests in these companies.  Additionally, Watkins was 
a Class A equity owner in a host of Masada affiliates, 
domestically and abroad.  (See, DX 5). 
20 The insider transactions consisted of loans that Watkins, his 
family members, and ex-girlfriend made to Watkins-Pencor and 
Masada to help these businesses survive the Great Recession of 
2008 that tanked 125 of Masada’s competitiors.  Repayment of 
these loans is expressly authorized in the Operating 
Agreements, but these repayments were mischaracterized by 
the Government and Court of Appeals as the “payment of 
personal expenses.” 
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Masada’s Manager (Watkins, Sr.) within his sole 
discretion; No. 16(d), “Significant Capital 
Requirements;”  No. 16(g), “Dependence on Key 
Personnel,” including the disclaimer that Masada may 
not be able to attract or retain the personnel that the 
company seeks; No 16(k), “General Risks;” and No. 
17(e), “Consultants, Engineers, and Other Advisors,” 
including the disclaimer that Masada makes no 
assurances that the company will be able to hire 
consultants (like Condoleeza Rice and Martin Luther 
King, III) to fill key roles with Masada. (DX 1, at 4-
11). 

In upholding Watkins, Sr.’s conviction, the Court 
of Appeals  (a) disregarded the plain language of the 
purchase agreements that specifically identified the 
interest purchased and (b) converted the risk factors 
that were disclosed to the “victims” prior to the 
execution of their purchase agreements into examples 
of so-called “wire fraud.”   

The evidence showed that the gateway for each 
“victim,” whether allegedly defrauded as an investor 
or lender/creditor, to become involved in Watkins, 
Sr.’s affiliated Masada businesses, was through the 
purchase of an economic interest in Watkins, Sr.’s own 
Masada-related holdings (i.e., principally, Watkins-
Pencor). Each involved an executed purchase contract 
that was negotiated at arms-length between high net 
worth, accredited investors, who were sophisticated 
business parties.  These business parties were 
represented by financial and legal professionals before 
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execution of their purchase agreements.  All of the 
“victims” agreed in their purchase agreements to be 
bound by all terms and conditions for “assignees” that 
are set forth in the operating agreements for each 
Masada entity, including adherence to the entire 
operating agreements.  (See, DX 3 and 5; Doc. 254, at 
84-89). 

The purchase agreement and other documents 
incorporated therein governed the business 
relationship between the purchasers and Watkins, Sr.  
The Masada-related operating agreements (i.e., DX 3 
and 5) define the broad managerial authority of 
Watkins, Sr., specifically including his authority to: 
(a) define proper business purposes, (b) rent or lease 
property, (c) borrow money for business purposes, (d) 
conduct “insider” transactions, (e) hire consultants 
and determine the terms and conditions of their 
employment, (f) compensate himself with a salary and 
reimburse himself for any and all expenses he 
incurred that were related to Masada,21 (g) to repay 
creditors with accrued interest, including family 
members and friends who loaned money to benefit 
Masada’s operations, and (h) allocate funds toward 

 
21 Watkins’ salary as “Manager” was established, quantified, 
and authorized in the Pencor Masada OxyNol. LLC, operating 
agreements.  See, DX 5 at 44-46.  However, during the ten-year 
period (2007 to 2016) identified by the Government for the 
alleged conspiracy, Watkins, Sr., deferred his authorized salary.  
See, Doc. 255 at 2732, lines 10-11. This deferment of salary is 
one of the reasons why Masada survived the Great Recession of 
2008 that tanked 125 of Masada’s competitiors. 
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such business purposes, all within his sole discretion.  
(Doc. 254, at 79-89).  

What began as a business dispute between 
Watkins and less than a handful of his 30 investors 
has been inappropriately criminalized, by a 
prosecutorial override on conspiracy and wire fraud 
charges brought 10 to 12 years later, solely because 
these investors’ refreshed recollection of the nature 
and scope of the purchase transaction differed from 
the express material representations in the written 
purchase agreements and other governing contractual 
documents. 

Even with these investors’ years-later-refreshed 
recollections of alleged oral representations, the 
documentary evidence established: (a) the nature and 
scope of the purchase transaction, (b) the nature and 
scope of the  “risk factors” that were made known to 
each “victim,” (c) Watkins, Sr.’s good faith reliance on 
his contractual authority, as set forth in the applicable 
operating agreements, (d) the actual truth of his 
alleged misrepresentations, (e) Watkins. Sr.’s good 
faith belief that any such representations were true 
(e.g., relating to Condoleeza Rice and Martin Luther 
King, III), and (f) the investors’ receipt and continued 
present possession of what they bargained for (i.e., 
their economic participation interests in an ongoing 
and growing business enterprise).   

As a matter of law, these factors, individually and 
collectively: (a)  negate the scheme to defraud and 
intent to defraud necessary to convict on wire fraud; 
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(b) constitute a complete defense to the conspiracy and 
wire fraud charges; and (c) required the entry of a 
judgment of acquittal on the conspiracy and wire 
fraud charges.   

As such, the facts in Watkins, Sr.’s case and his 
affirmative defense of a lack of intent to deceive and 
defraud the “victims” fell squarely within the ambit of 
the 11th Circuit’s precedent in United States v. 
Takhalov, 827 F.3d 1307, 1312-14 (11th Cir. 2016). 

The Takhalov case cited and followed precedent set 
in the following 2nd Circuit cases: (a) United States v. 
Shellef, 507 F.3d 82 (2nd Cir. 2007), (b) United States 
v. Starr, 816 F.2d 94 (2nd Cir. 1987), and (c) United 
States v. Regent Office Supply Co., 421 F.2d 1174 (2nd 
Cir. 1970).  

  Yet, the Court of Appeals distinguished the facts 
in Watkins, Sr.’s case from those that formed the basis 
of its holding in Takhalov by completely disregarding 
the nature and scope of the business relationship, as 
defined in the applicable corporate governance 
agreements and transactional documents exexuted 
between Watkins and the “victims.”        
 

CONCLUSION 
 

The Court of Appeals effectively criminalized 
banking conduct that is permissible under 12 C.F.R. 
§215.3(f)(2).  Prior to the Court of Appeal’s opinion, 
there was no published decision of this Court that 
nullified the right of a bank “insider” under 
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§215.3(f)(2) to receive tangible economic benefits from 
a loan made to his business partner.   

The Court of Appeals makes Watkins, Sr., a bank 
fraud criminal even though: (a) he was not told the 
source of the $151,739.50  bank loan to Arrington and 
he never interacted with any bank officer with respect 
to that loan;  (b) there was no evidence that Watkins, 
Sr., gave false information to any bank official, or 
directed Arrington to do so, (c) at least two bank 
directors (i.e., Matt Rockett and Larry Tate) knew of 
Watkins’ entitlement to part of the Arrington loan 
proceeds, and (d) Watkins recused himself from all 
aspects of the bank’s decision to make loans to 
Arrington. 

The Court of Appeals’ affirmance of the bank fraud 
conviction presents a conflict between the 1st, 2nd, and 
11th Circuits Courts of Appeal on this issue that 
should be resolved by this Court. 

Finally, in light of (a) the plain language of the 
Watkins-Pencor purchase agreements, (b) the “risk 
factors” that were disclosed in the transactional 
documents to the alleged “victims,” (c) the managerial 
authority conferred on Watkins, Sr. in the applicable 
Masada corporate governing documents, and (d) the 
fact that the “victims” were “accredited investors” who 
were represented by financial advisors and lawyers, 
Watkins, Sr., did not commit the crime of conspiracy 
and wire fraud, as a matter of law.  

As such, the conspiracy and wire fraud convictions 
in this case are due to be reversed and rendered with 
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instructions to dismiss the Indictment with prejudice. 
 

Respectfully Submitted, 
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In the 

United States Court of Appeals 

For the Eleventh Circuit 

 

No. 19-12951 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

Plaintiff-Appellee, 

versus 

DONALD V. WATKINS, JR., DONALD V. 
WATKINS, SR., 

Defendants-Appellants. 

 

Appeal from the United States District Court for the 
Northern District of Alabama 

D.C. Docket No. 2:18-cr-00166-KOB-JEO-2 

Before NEWSOM, TJOFLAT, and ED CARNES, 

Circuit Judges. TJOFLAT, Circuit Judge: 

On April 26, 2018, a federal grand jury returned a 
sealed indictment against Donald Watkins, Sr., 
(“Senior”) and his son, Donald Watkins, Jr. (“Junior”). 
On November 29, 2018, a ten-count superseding 
indictment was issued against Senior and Junior, alleg- 
ing one count of conspiracy to commit wire fraud and 
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bank fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1349, seven counts 
of wire fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1342 and § 1343, 
and two counts of bank fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 
1342 and § 1344. 

Both Senior and Junior pled not guilty. They were 
tried together, and both elected to proceed pro se. The 
trial lasted three weeks and consisted of testimony from 
more than 30 witnesses and the admission of more than 
200 exhibits. The overnment put on evidence showing 
that Senior and Junior had conspired to commit wire 
fraud when they solicited millions of dollars’ worth of 
investments from wealthy and famous individuals like 
Charles Barkley, Takeo Spikes, and Bryan Thomas for 
the development of certain companies, including a 
company called Masada Resource Group, 

L.L.C. (“Masada”).1 Senior and Junior, the 
Government posited, secured the investments 
through several different fraudulent 
misrepresentations: (1) misleading the investors into 
believing Senior owned at least 50% of the interest in 

Masada, when in fact he was only the manager;2 (2) 
misleading investors into believing the solicited funds 
would be used for business purposes, when in fact they 
were used to pay personal expenses and debts; and (3) 
misleading investors into believing high-profile 
individuals such as Condoleeza Rice and Martin Luther 
King III were heavily involved in the management of 
Masada, when in fact they were not. 
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The Government also put on evidence showing that 
Senior and Junior had committed bank fraud when 
they directed a former friend and business associate, 
Richard Arrington, to request two separate loans from 
Alamerica Bank for his own company while concealing 
the fact that the money was intended for Senior and 
Junior. Such deception was necessary, the 
Government argued, because Senior, the Chairman of 
Alamerica, had already borrowed the maximum 

amount on his line of credit at the bank.3 At the 
conclusion of the Government’s case, and again at the 
conclusion of all evidence, both Senior and Junior made 
a Rule 29 motion for judgment of acquittal. 

The jury convicted Senior on all counts and Junior on 
counts one (conspiracy) and two (wire fraud). Both 
Senior and Junior again filed motions seeking a 
judgment of acquittal notwithstanding the verdict or, 
alternatively, a new trial. The District Court denied 
the motions, and sentenced Senior to 60 months of 
imprisonment and Junior to 27 months of 
imprisonment. 

Both Senior and Junior appeal. On appeal, Senior 
argues (1) that his conviction on all counts of wire and 
bank fraud should be reversed because the evidence 
was insufficient to establish the required intent to 
defraud under the wire and bank fraud statutes and 

(2) that his conviction on the conspiracy count 
should be reversed because Junior lacked the specific 



 

6a 
 

intent necessary to be convicted of a conspiracy and a 
successful conspiracy conviction requires at least two 
co-conspirators. Alternatively, Senior argues that (1) 
that a new trial should be ordered on the wire and bank 
fraud charges because the District Court abused its 
discretion in refusing to define the element of “intent 
to harm” in its jury instructions for the wire and bank 
fraud charges and (2) that a new trial should be or- 
dered because the District Court erroneously excluded 
and limited evidence that went to the heart of the case. 

Junior argues (1) that the evidence was insufficient 
to support his conspiracy conviction and (2) that the 
evidence was insufficient to support his conviction of 
aiding and abetting Senior in wire fraud. 

 

I. 

 
We review a verdict challenged for the sufficiency of 

the evidence de novo, resolving all reasonable inferences 
in favor of the verdict. United States v. Yost, 479 F.3d 
815, 818 (11th Cir. 2007) (citing United States v. 
Pineiro, 389 F.3d 1359, 1367 (11th Cir. 2004)). This 
means that we cannot disturb the verdict “unless no 
trier of fact could have found guilt beyond a reasonable 
doubt.” Id. at 818–19 (citing United States v. Lyons, 53 
F.3d 1198, 1202 (11th Cir. 1995)).We review a district 
court’s refusal to give a proposed jury instruction for 
abuse of discretion. United States v. Maxwell, 579 F.3d 
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1282, 1303 (11th Cir. 2009) (citing United States v. Ndiaye, 
434 F.3d 1270, 1280 (11th Cir. 2006)). The same standard 
of review applies for a district court’s evidentiary 
rulings. United States v. Brown, 415 F.3d 1257, 1264-
65 (11th Cir. 2005) (citing Gen. Elec. 

Co. v. Joiner, 552 U.S. 136, 141, 118 S. Ct. 512, 517 
(1997)). 

II. 

We first consider whether the evidence was sufficient 
to support Senior and Junior’s convictions for wire 

fraud.4 To be convicted of wire fraud, a person must 
“(1) intentionally participate[] in a scheme or artifice 
to defraud another of money or property and (2) use[] 
or ‘cause[]’ the use of the mails or wires for the purpose 
of executing the scheme or artifice.” United States v. 
Bradley, 644 F.3d 1213, 1238 (11th Cir. 2011). 

We consider Senior’s convictions first. Senior 
argues that there was insufficient evidence to 
establish the required intent to defraud under the wire 
fraud statute. Under our precedent, a defendant 
intends to defraud when he “attempt[s] to obtain, by 
deceptive means, something to which he was not 
entitled.” Bradley, 644 F.3d at 1240; United States v. 
Takhalov, 827 F.3d 1307, 1313 (11th Cir. 2016). Here, 
there was sufficient evidence to establish the required 
intent to defraud under the wire fraud 

statute.5Counts two through four concerned Senior’s 
solicitation of a $150,000 loan from Barkley. Senior 
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emailed Barkley on May 24, 2013,6 seeking $150,000 to 
cover “April and May expenditures related to” his 
various business projects and to tide him over until he 
received an expected “allotment of working capital” on 
June 1. However, as the Government showed at trial, 
emails between Senior and Junior made clear that they 
intended to use the monies secured from Barkley to pay 
expenses entirely unrelated to Senior’s business 
ventures, including a $5,000 payment to Deandra 
Watkins (Senior’s ex-wife) and a $2,800 payment to 
Lamar Media for Junior’s insurance business. Thus, 
although Barkley received a promissory note providing 
that his loan was “made and transacted solely for 
business purposes related to Masada Resource Group, 
LLC,” the money was in fact intended (and used) for 
non-business purposes. A jury could therefore 
reasonably conclude that Senior intended to defraud 
Barkley—“to obtain, by deceptive means, [money] to 
which he was not entitled.” Bradley, 644 F.3d at 1240. 

Counts five and six concerned a separate set of 
solicitations, again directed at Barkley. On February 4, 
2014, Senior emailed Barkley (and later Barkley’s 
financial advisor) informing him that Senior was in 
discussions to sell Masada to a member of the royal 
family of Saudi Arabia. Senior told Barkley that in 
order to “complete this deal” Masada needed an 
“additional capital infusion of $1 million” and asked 
Barkley for an additional $1 million investment. He also 
asked Barkley to convert $2,000,000 of loans Barkley 
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had previously made to Masada into equity in the 
company. In return, Senior offered to upgrade 
Barkley’s equity stake in Masada to “a 10% economic 
interest in all of Masada.” However, as the Govern- 
ment’s evidence showed, emails between Senior and 
Junior showed that they in fact intended to use 
Barkley’s investment not as a capital infusion but to pay 
certain personal expenses, including 

$100,000 in past-due alimony to Senior’s ex-wife. 
Based on all the evidence, then, a reasonable jury could 
conclude that Senior had intended to defraud 
Barkley—“to obtain, by deceptive means, [money] to 
which he was not entitled.” Bradley, 644 F.3d at 1240. 

Finally, counts seven and eight concerned 
stakeholder reports Senior emailed to Barkley’s 
financial advisor and other investor victims in June 
2014 and January 2016. At trial, the Government 
showed that Senior sent these emails in order to lull his 
victims into a false sense of security and into believing 
that their investments were being used for business 
purposes, rather than personal expenses. See United 
States v. Evans, 473 F.3d 1115, 1120 (11th Cir. 2006) 
(noting that “letters designed to conceal a fraud, by 
lulling a victim into inaction, constitute a continuation 
of the original scheme to defraud”) (citing United States v. 
Georgalis, 631 F.2d 1199, 1204 (11th Cir. 1980)). Given 
the considerable testimony from investor victims 
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suggesting that their receipt of such progress updates 
led them to believe their investments were being used 
for legitimate business purposes, a reasonable jury could 
conclude that Senior sent the stakeholder reports to 
his investors to deter them from peering too closely into 

Senior’s use of their investments.7 As such, we cannot 
say that “no trier of fact could have found guilt beyond 
a reasonable doubt.” Pineiro, 389 F.3d at 1367 
(emphasis added). 

Finally, we turn to Junior’s wire fraud conviction 
under count two, which concerned Senior’s solicitation of 
a $150,000 loan from Barkley. Junior argues that there 
was insufficient evidence to support his wire fraud 
conviction because the “record is entirely devoid of any 
false, fraudulent, or misleading statements by [Jun- 
ior] to Charles Barkley.” Our precedent makes clear, 
however, that “a defendant may be convicted of [wire] 
fraud without personally committing each and every 
element of [wire] fraud, so long as the defendant 
knowingly and willingly joined the criminal scheme, and 
a co-schemer used the mails for the purpose of 
executing the scheme.” United States v. Ward, 486 
F.3d 1212, 1222 (11th Cir. 2007) (footnote omitted). 

Here the Government presented substantial 
evidence to establish beyond a reasonable doubt that 
Junior knowingly and intentionally participated in 
Senior’s fraudulent scheme. Junior was copied on the 
May 24, 2013, email from Senior to Barkley, and he 
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himself emailed Senior that very day stating, “We have 
no money left. I checked your email and mine and no 
word from Barkley.” Senior replied, “I am surprised 
that Charles did not say yes. I am going to send two 
more emails out today. The money has to be there 
Tuesday.” The Government also presented emails 
between Senior and Junior detailing the personal 
expenses to be paid from Barkley’s loan. As the District 
Court noted, given Junior admitted to being the office 
manager and bookkeeper for his father’s businesses, 
“the jury could reasonably infer that [Junior] knew 
that [the] funds from the loan could be used for business 
purposes only, and not to pay his personal expenses.” 
A reasonable jury could therefore conclude that Junior 
knowingly and intentionally aided his father in 
committing wire fraud. 

III. 

We next consider whether the evidence was 
sufficient to support Senior and Junior’s convictions for 
conspiracy to commit wire fraud. Both Senior and 
Junior argue that the evidence was insufficient to 
support Junior’s conviction—and Senior argues that, as 
a result, the evidence was insufficient to support his own 
conviction, as it takes at least two individuals to form a 
conspiracy. 

To prove a conspiracy to commit wire fraud under 18 
U.S.C. § 1349, the evidence must establish “(1) that 
a conspiracy [to commit wire fraud] existed; (2) that the 
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defendant knew of it; and (3) that the defendant, with 
knowledge, voluntarily joined it.” United States v. 
Vernon, 723 F.3d 1234, 1273 (11th Cir. 2013) (quo- tation 
marks omitted) (quoting United States v. Molina, 443 
F.3d 824, 828 (11th Cir. 2006)). “Because the crime of 
conspiracy is pre- dominantly mental in composition, it 
is frequently necessary to resort to circumstantial 
evidence to prove its elements.” United States v. Toler, 
144 F.3d 1423, 1426 (11th Cir. 1998). Moreover, “the 
government need not prove that the defendant[] knew 
all of the detail[s] or participated in every aspect of the 
conspiracy,” United States v. Garcia, 405 F.3d 1260, 1270 
(11th Cir. 2005), and “a defendant can be convicted [of 
conspiracy] even if his or her partic- ipation in the 
scheme is ‘slight’ by comparison to the actions of other 
co-conspirators.” Toler, 144 F.3d at 1428. 

 
Without a doubt, there was sufficient evidence to 

support Junior’s, and therefore Senior’s, conspiracy 
convictions. At trial the evidence showed that (1) Junior 
was Senior’s “on the ground guy to oversee the 
administrative functions” of the business and that it 
was his job to make sure “whatever banking 
transactions needed to be done were done;” (2) Junior 
was included on multiple emails between Senior and 
the investors, many of which contained false 
statements; and (3) Junior himself devised a plan to 
solicit money from Charles Barkley, money that would 
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be used to pay personal, not business, expenses. 
Indeed, the email in which Junior presented his plan 
to his father was sufficient to support a conviction on 
the conspiracy count. The subject line of the email was 
“Idea for Money,” and the text was as follows: 

You need to consider going back to Barkley 
for one last million loan/investment. I hate to 
go there but I don’t think we have many more 
options. Perhaps the Nabrim and uranium 
developments may be enough to pique his 
consideration. You need to call him as soon 
as you get back if not while you are over in Si- 
erra Leone. I can’t make that call. 

If we do go back to him, and he sees his way 
clear to help us, the following have to be the 
payment priorities: 

$40,000 – 2009 GA and Fed income taxes 

$190,000 – FHG replacement of AB prepaid 
rent (into our FHG account) 

$105,000 – AMEX 

$125,000 – Rich Hewlett (we pay the other 
$125,000 a month or two later) 

$45,000 – Midland loan interest (2 quarters) 

$95,000 – past due bills, loan payments, fee 
payments and alimony 

$600,000 – TOTAL 

We hold on the remaining $400,000, no 
exceptions. We use that for monthly payroll 
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and expenses until we decide for sure what 
we are going to do with the bank and 
building. 

That’s the only idea I have. 

Donald Watkins, Jr. 
Sent from my iPad2. 

As the District Court correctly noted, a “jury could 
reasonably infer from this email [Junior’s] 
involvement in a conspiracy with [Senior] to try to 
solicit funds from Barkley using false statements about 
business needs but using the proceeds for personal 
expenses and gain.” See also United States v. Kelly, 888 
F.2d 732, 740 (11th Cir. 1989) (noting that in order to find 
the evidence sufficient, one need not find the evidence 
“wholly inconsistent with every conclusion except that 
of guilt”). 

Thus, the evidence was sufficient to support Junior’s 
conviction and, as a result, Senior’s challenge to his own 
conspiracy conviction fails as well. 

 
IV. 

We next consider whether the evidence was 
sufficient to support Senior’s convictions for bank 
fraud. Senior again argues that he had no intent to 
harm Alamerica Bank and that, because of this, he 
could not have engaged in bank fraud. 
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Under 18 U.S.C. § 1344, an individual commits 
bank fraud by knowingly executing “a scheme or artifice 
(1) to defraud a financial institution; or (2) to obtain any 
of the moneys, funds, . . . or other property owned by, 
or under the custody or control of, a financial 
institution, by means of false or fraudulent pretenses, 
representations, or promises.” 

Here, the evidence was more than sufficient to 
support Senior’s two bank fraud convictions. The 
evidence at trial showed that in September of 2012, 
Senior sought to borrow $750,000 from Dr. Richard 
Arrington. When Dr. Arrington indicated he did not 
have the financial assets to make such a loan, Senior 
instructed Dr. Arrington to seek out a loan from 
Alamerica Bank for his company, Jennro, L.L.C. At 
the time, Senior—the Chairman of Alamerica Bank—
had maxed out his available credit line at the bank and 
was not eligible for a loan in his own right. Although 
Larry Tate, the President and Chief Executive Officer of 
Alamerica, testified that it was important for the Bank 
to “know the purpose of [a] loan or where the money 
will be spent” when deciding whether to approve a 
loan, and that Senior, as Chairman of the Board, 
would have been aware of this fact, neither Senior nor 
Dr. Arrington informed the Bank that the loan was 
really intended for Senior. 

Instead, the day after Dr. Arrington’s loan was 
approved, Senior texted Tate in the early hours of the 
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morning and asked if the loan office could “finish 
Arrington’s transaction today? He has some things he 
needs to take care of today.” When Tate responded that 
Dr. Arrington had indicated that the closing needed to 
take place within seven days, Senior responded: 
“[S]even days will not work. It has to be completed 
today.” He followed up with another text stating “[T]his 
is critical.” Shortly after Dr. Arrington received the loan, 
he dispersed the funds at the direction of Junior. 

Later in November of that year, Senior once again 
asked Dr. Arrington to loan him money ($150,000 this 
time) and again Dr. Arrington represented to the bank 
that the loan was intended for Jennro business 
purposes. And Dr. Arrington once again disbursed the 
funds according to Junior’s directions. 

Senior argues that because no misrepresentations 
were made as to the requested loan amount or the 
terms of the agreement, it makes no difference that 
Senior and Dr. Arrington concealed the true recipient 
of the loan from Alamerica. That is, Senior seems to 
suggest a bank has no interest in truly knowing who it 
is lending its money to or what purposes they intend 
to put the money towards. Instead, as long as there 
“was no evidence of any misrepresentation of the 
amount of either loan (the price) or regarding the 
terms of either loan (the repayment terms Alamerica 
Bank bargained for in exchange),” then it matters not 
that Senior sought to conceal from Alamerica the fact 
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that he was the true recipient of the loan. 
This argument is plainly nonsensical. Banks have a 

clear interest in knowing to whom they are loaning 
money and for what purpose. Indeed, such 
information goes to the very nature of the “bargain” 
itself, as banks are not willing to provide loans to anyone 
and everyone, or for every purpose. See Takhalov, 827 
F.3d at 1313 (holding that a “scheme to defraud” refers 
to schemes “in which a defendant lies about the nature 
of the bargain itself’). A jury therefore could have 
reasonably believed, given the evidence presented at 
trial, that Senior sought “to obtain, by deceptive 
means, something to which [he was] not entitled”—in 
this case, a loan from Alamerica Bank.  Bradley, 644 
F.3d at 1240.  The evidence was therefore sufficient to 
support Senior’s bank fraud convictions. 

V. 

Senior argues that the District Court abused its 
discretion in refusing to use his requested jury 
instruction for the wire and bank fraud charges. A 
district court’s refusal to give a requested instruction is 
an abuse of discretion if (1) the instruction is correct; (2) 
the court did not address the substance of the 
instruction in its charge; and (3) the failure to give the 
instruction seriously impaired the defendant’s ability to 
present an effective defense. United States v. Sirang, 
70 F.3d 588, 593 (11th Cir. 1995). 
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The District Court did not abuse its discretion in 
denying Senior’s proposed jury instructions on the 
“intent to harm” element of the wire and bank fraud 
charges. Even assuming, arguendo, that Senior’s 
proffered jury instruction was a correct statement of the 
law, the District Court’s instruction addressed the 
substance of the instruction in its charge and Senior’s 
ability to present an effective defense was in no way 
impaired by the District Court’s refusal to use his 
proposed instruction. 

The District Court’s instruction to the jury 
regarding what it means for a defendant to act with an 
“intent to defraud,” “when viewed as a whole, fairly 
and correctly state[d] the issues and the law.” See 
United States v. King, 751 F.3d 1268, 1275 (11th Cir. 2014) 
(quoting United States v. Gonzalez, 975 F.2d 1514, 1517 
(11th Cir. 1992)). Under the District Court’s 
instructions, the jury could not have convicted Senior 
without finding that his misrepresentations were made 
with an intent to cause loss or injury to the individuals 
from whom he solicited money, i.e., to obtain money to 
which he was not entitled. Furthermore, the District 
Court instructed the jury on the Senior’s theory of 
defense, i.e., that he had relied in good faith on the 
“authority granted by the applicable contractual 
agreements” and that he had a right, under those 
agreements, to “determine what constituted valid 
business purposes for expending the funds.” 
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Accordingly, the District Court committed no 
reversible error in using the pattern jury instructions 
on the “intent to defraud” element of the wire and bank 
fraud chargers rather than Senior’s requested 
instruction. 

VI. 

Senior argues that the District Court abused its 
discretion when it excluded “defense evidence that 
went to the heart of the case.” He should have been 
permitted, he argues, to introduce evidence regarding 
value of the economic interests he sold, as well as the 
economic value of his holdings in Masada and Nabirm, 
because this evidence was necessary to show that each 
investor received what he or she paid for. 

A district court is “vested with broad discretion in 
ruling upon the relevancy and admissibility of evidence. 
Its ruling[s] will not be disturbed on appeal in the 
absence of clear abuse of that discretion.” United States 
v. Anderson, 872 F.2d 1508, 1515 (11th Cir. 1989) 
(citations and internal quotation marks omitted). This 
discretion, however, does not “extend to the exclusion of 
crucial relevant evidence necessary to establish a valid 
defense.” Id. (quoting United States v. Wasman, 641 F.2d 
326, 329 (5th Cir. Unit B 1981)). 

The District Court did not abuse its discretion. 
Although a defendant has a right to present crucial, 
relevant evidence to his defense, he does not have a 
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right to introduce evidence that “does not bear a logical 
relationship to an element of the offense or an 
affirmative defense, whether direct or indirect.” 
United States v. Hurn, 368 F.3d 1359, 1365 (11th Cir. 
2004) (citing United States v. Ramos, 933 F.2d 968, 974 
(11th Cir. 1991)). Here, the value of the Masada and 
Nabirm entities, their potential for growth, and even 
the value of the “economic participation interests” 
Senior sold was irrelevant to the charges Senior (and 
Junior) faced. 

The Government’s theory of the case was not that 
Senior and Junior had lied about the existence of 
Masada or Nabirm, the waste to ethanol technology 
involved, or the possibility that the companies were or 
could become successful. Instead, the Government 
argued that Senior and Junior had misled investors 
into believing, among other things, that the solicited 
funds would be used for business purposes when in 
reality they intended to use the funds for personal 
expenses. Proving that Masada was a successful, 
functioning company would do nothing to relieve Senior 
from liability for deceiving investors into believing their 
investment monies were going to business purposes 
rather than Senior and Junior’s personal debts, 
alimony payments, and expenses. As such, the 
District Court’s decision to exclude Senior’s proffered 
evidence concerning the value of the economic 
interests sold and his per- sonal holdings was not an 
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abuse of discretion. 

VII. 

For the foregoing reasons, the judgment of the 
District Court is 

AFFIRMED. 
 

Footnotes 

1 These companies included Masada Resource Group, 
L.L.C., MRG’s parent company, Controlled 
Environmental System Corporation, Watkins Aviation, 
and Nabirm. We will refer to these entities collectively 
as Masada. 

2 Senior was appointed manager of Masada at some 
point in 2005 but did not possess ownership interests. 

3 Regulation O, 12 C.F.R. § 215.5, imposes a $100,000 
maximum amount of credit a bank can extend to an 
“insider.” 

4 The wire fraud charges consisted of counts two 
through eight. Counts two and three alleged that 
Senior and Junior used money wire transfers to defraud 
their victims, while counts four through eight alleged 
Senior and Junior used emails to do so. 

5 Senior cites our recent decision in Takhalov, 827 F.3d 
at 1312, and argues that any conviction under the wire 
fraud statute requires proof of intent to harm the 
victim(s), and not merely proof of intent to deceive. He 
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argues that there was insufficient evidence to support 
a finding that he intended to harm any of his investors; 
instead, the most the Government could prove, he 
asserts, is that he used misrepresentations to induce 
his investors to enter into fair transactions they might 
not otherwise have entered into. 

But the evidence was sufficient under Takhalov to 
sustain Senior’s convictions. That decision requires a 
defendant’s “lies [to be] about the nature of the bargain 
itself.” Id. at 1313. Senior’s lies were. He lied about how 
the investment money would be spent, which affected 
the nature of the bargain. See United States v. Wheeler, 
16 F.4th 805, 820–21 (11th Cir. 2021) (holding that a lie 
that investment money would be used to inject capital 
into the company to expand it or to conduct research 
and development, when in fact the money went to 
salespeople’s commissions, was a lie that affected the 
value and nature of the bargain). 

Senior also lied about high-profile individuals being 
involved with Masada, which affected the nature of 
the bargain. See id. at 820 (“A reasonable jury could 
infer that facts like [the company’s] association with a 
famous executive and globally recognized technology 
company, . . . are essential characteristics of the stock 
that would alter the nature of the bargain.”). And he 
lied about his creditworthiness when seeking a loan 
from Barkley by misrepresenting his ability to pay the 
loan back.  That lie, too, affected the nature of the 
bargain. See United States v. Waters, 937 F.3d 1344, 1357 
(11th Cir. 2019) (holding that a borrower’s 
creditworthiness “affect[s] the value of the transaction 
and was part of the bargain itself”). 
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6 Junior was copied on this email. 

7 Senior argues that his convictions under counts 
seven and eight must fail because there was 
insufficient evidence to prove he intended to harm any 
of his victims and, as such, there was no fraudulent 
scheme to conceal. As we noted earlier, see supra n.5, 
however, a reasonable jury could have found that Senior 
intended to defraud Barkley by obtaining, through 
deceptive means, money to which he was not entitled. 
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APPENDIX B 

 

 

December 8, 2022 Order of the Court of Appeals 
Denying Watkins, Sr.’s and Watkins, Jr.’s Petitions for 
Rehearing En Banc. 
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IN THE UNITED STATES COURT OF APPEALS 
FOR THE ELEVENTH CIRCUIT 

----------------------------------------- 

No. 19-12951-JJ 

----------------------------------------- 

 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA, 

 

Plaintiff - Appellee, 

 

versus 

 

DONALD V. WATKINS, JR., DONALD V. 
WATKINS, SR., 

 

Defendants - Appellants. 

------------------------------------------ 

Appeal from the United States District Court 

for the Northern District of Alabama 

------------------------------------------ 

 

ON PETITION(S) FOR REHEARING AND 
PETITION(S) FOR REHEARING EN BANC 

 

BEFORE: NEWSOM, TJOFLAT, and ED CARNES, 
Circuit Judges.  

PER CURIAM: 
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The Petition for Rehearing En Banc is DENIED, no 
judge in regular active service on the Court having 
requested that the Court be polled on rehearing en 
banc. (FRAP 35) The Petition for Rehearing En Banc 
is also treated as a Petition for Rehearing before the 
panel and is DENIED. (FRAP 35, IOP2) 
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APPENDIX C 

 

 

Federal statutes involved in this case: 18 U.S.C. §2, 18 
U.S.C. §1343, 18 U.S.C. §1344, and 18 U.S.C. §1349. 
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FEDERAL STATUTES INVOLVED 

 

18 U.S.C §2: 

 

(a) Whoever commits an offense against the United 
States or aids, abets, counsels, commands, induces or 
procures its commission, is punishable as a principal. 

(b) Whoever willfully causes an act to be done which if 
directly performed by him or another would be an 
offense against the United States, is punishable as a 
principal. 

 

18 U.S.C §1343: 

 

Whoever, having devised or intending to devise 
any scheme or artifice to defraud, or for obtaining 
money or property by means of false or fraudulent 
pretenses, representations, or promises, transmits or 
causes to be transmitted by means of wire, radio, or 
television communication in interstate or foreign 
commerce, any writings, signs, signals, pictures, or 
sounds for the purpose of executing such scheme or 
artifice, shall be fined under this title or imprisoned 
not more than 20 years, or both. If the violation occurs 
in relation to, or involving any benefit authorized, 
transported, transmitted, transferred, disbursed, or 
paid in connection with, a presidentially declared 
major disaster or emergency (as those terms are 
defined in section 102 of the Robert T. Stafford 
Disaster Relief and Emergency Assistance Act(42 
U.S.C. 5122)), or affects a financial institution, such 
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person shall be fined not more than $1,000,000 or 
imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both. 

 

18 U.S.C. §1344: 

 

Whoever knowingly executes, or attempts to execute, 
a scheme or artifice— 

(1) to defraud a financial institution; 
or 

(2) to obtain any of the moneys, funds, credits, assets, 
securities, or other property owned by, or under the 
custody or control of, a financial institution, by means 
of false or fraudulent pretenses, representations, or 
promises; shall be fined not more than $1,000,000 or 
imprisoned not more than 30 years, or both. 

 

18 U.S.C. §1349 

 
Any person who attempts or conspires to commit any 
offense under this chapter shall be subject to the 
same penalties as those prescribed for the offense, the 
commission of which was the object of the attempt or 
conspiracy. 




